

Exchange 2010 and Your Audit Strategy

Authors Valentine Boiarkine Software Architect, Blade

Contributors Jamie Manuel Product Marketing Manager, Quest Software Keith Bick Editor, Blade

WHITE PAPER

© 2010 Quest Software, Inc. ALL RIGHTS RESERVED.

This document contains proprietary information protected by copyright. No part of this document may be reproduced or transmitted in any form or by any means, electronic or mechanical, including photocopying and recording for any purpose without the written permission of Quest Software, Inc. ("Quest").

The information in this document is provided in connection with Quest products. No license, express or implied, by estoppel or otherwise, to any intellectual property right is granted by this document or in connection with the sale of Quest products. EXCEPT AS SET FORTH IN QUEST'S TERMS AND CONDITIONS AS SPECIFIED IN THE LICENSE AGREEMENT FOR THIS PRODUCT, QUEST ASSUMES NO LIABILITY WHATSOEVER AND DISCLAIMS ANY EXPRESS, IMPLIED OR STATUTORY WARRANTY RELATING TO ITS PRODUCTS INCLUDING, BUT NOT LIMITED TO, THE IMPLIED WARRANTY OF MERCHANTABILITY, FITNESS FOR A PARTICULAR PURPOSE, OR NON-INFRINGEMENT. IN NO EVENT SHALL QUEST BE LIABLE FOR ANY DIRECT, INDIRECT, CONSEQUENTIAL, PUNITIVE, SPECIAL OR INCIDENTAL DAMAGES (INCLUDING, WITHOUT LIMITATION, DAMAGES FOR LOSS OF PROFITS, BUSINESS INTERRUPTION OR LOSS OF INFORMATION) ARISING OUT OF THE USE OR INABILITY TO USE THIS DOCUMENT, EVEN IF QUEST HAS BEEN ADVISED OF THE POSSIBILITY OF SUCH DAMAGES. Quest makes no representations or warranties with respect to the accuracy or completeness of the contents of this document and reserves the right to make changes to specifications and product descriptions at any time without notice. Quest does not make any commitment to update the information contained in this document.

If you have any questions regarding your potential use of this material, contact:

Quest Software, Inc. Attn: Legal Department 5 Polaris Way Aliso Viejo, CA 92656 www.quest.com E-mail: legal@quest.com

Refer to our Web site for regional and international office information.

Trademarks

Quest, Quest Software, the Quest Software logo, AccessManager, ActiveRoles, Aelita, Akonix, AppAssure, Benchmark Factory, Big Brother, BridgeAccess, BridgeAutoEscalate, BridgeSearch, BridgeTrak, BusinessInsight, ChangeAuditor, ChangeManager, Defender, DeployDirector, Desktop Authority, DirectoryAnalyzer, DirectoryTroubleshooter, DS Analyzer, DS Expert, Foglight, GPOADmin, Help Desk Authority, Imceda, IntelliProfile, InTrust, Invirtus, iToken, I/Watch, JClass, Jint, JProbe, LeccoTech, LiteSpeed, LiveReorg, LogADmin, MessageStats, Monosphere, MultSess, NBSpool, NetBase, NetControl, Npulse, NetPro, PassGo, PerformaSure, Point,Click,Done!, PowerGUI, Quest Central, Quest vToolkit, Quest vWorkSpace, ReportADmin, RestoreADmin, ScriptLogic, Security Lifecycle Map, SelfServiceADmin, SharePlex, Sitraka, SmartAlarm, Spotlight, SQL Navigator, SQL Watch, SQLab, Stat, StealthCollect, Storage Horizon, Tag and Follow, Toad, T.O.A.D., Toad World, vAutomator, vControl, vConverter, vFoglight, vOptimizer, vRanger, Vintela, Virtual DBA, VizionCore, Vizioncore vAutomation Suite, Vizioncore vBackup, Vizioncore vEssentials, Vizioncore vMigrator, Vizioncore vReplicator, WebDefender, Webthority, Xaffire, and XRT are trademarks and registered trademarks of Quest Software, Inc in the United States of America and other countries. Other trademarks and registered trademarks used in this guide are property of their respective owners.

Contents

Abstract
Introduction4
What's New in Exchange 2010 Objects and Security?5
Discovery Mailboxes
Exchange Control Panel6
Multi-Mailbox Search7
Litigation Hold9
Other Notable Features10
Administrator Audit Logging11
Configuring Administrator Access Auditing11
Information Logged12
Mailbox Audit Logging14
Configuring Mailbox Audit Logging14
Accessing Mailbox Audit Logs15
Exchange 2010 Administrative Model16
Auditing Exchange 2010 with Quest ChangeAuditor for Exchange
Quest ChangeAuditor and Regulatory Compliance
Conclusion

Abstract

This white paper reviews the audit strategy guidance provided in the white paper "<u>Creating and</u> <u>Implementing an Audit Strategy for Exchange</u>," in the light of the release of Exchange 2010 and its new features. Now, more than ever, auditing is a key tool for advancing security and compliance. Today's environment is increasingly competitive and you must vigorously protect your intellectual assets, as well as comply with corporate and regulatory guidelines.

Security and accountability are critical in attaining and maintaining leadership positions in today's competitive environment. There is pressure on IT staff to protect the organization against incidents involving sensitive information loss, computer forensics and litigation. Unfortunately, as the number of these incidents grows, our e-mail systems are becoming more distributed and the amount of information they store is growing exponentially.

Because of this, auditing any access to individual pieces of information becomes more difficult, if not impossible. In this white paper we will re-examine the recommended approach to auditing in light of new tools available.

Introduction

Exchange Server 2010 introduces many new features for enhanced security, compliance and discovery. These features were introduced to provide a core toolset for carrying out tasks that were impossible in earlier versions of Exchange Server. In this white paper, we will examine how auditing and security differs between Exchange 2010 and Exchange 2007.

No matter which software your organization uses for its e-mail system, it's very important to have a sound audit strategy. As discussed in detail in the white paper, "<u>Creating and Implementing an Audit Strategy for Exchange</u>", a successful audit strategy will provide visibility into your systems and user behavior and ensure that no unauthorized activities go unnoticed. A formal audit strategy will go a long way towards preventing, investigating and prosecuting malicious activities. Although this white paper focuses on Microsoft Exchange 2010, an audit strategy is vital no matter what e-mail system you use.

The following activities should be considered priority auditing candidates:

- Changes to administrative security groups This includes the addition and changes in rights of system administrators
- Exchange Server configuration changes
- Access to "Key Mailboxes" Certain mailboxes, for example those belonging to HR representatives, sales staff and senior executives, contain sensitive and proprietary information and are priority candidates for auditing.
- Changes to membership of "Key Distribution Lists" These lists may be used to distribute important and sensitive e-mail. Organizations want to prevent unauthorized persons from appearing on these lists, either maliciously or by accident. For example, the "Senior Leadership Team" distribution list members will receive highly privileged e-mail containing company strategies – the kind of information you don't want in any other hands.

In both Exchange 2007 and Exchange 2010, it is somewhat possible to audit these activities. Unquestionably, Exchange 2010 has improved usability with an enhanced toolset for configuring auditing, as well as viewing audit information.

But even with these advances, you may find that auditing using built-in tools is difficult and effort intensive. You will still be swamped with vast amounts of auditing information, most of which depicts legitimate activity. This makes suspicious events very difficult to identify.

Because all medium to large organizations are required by law and corporate policy to have a formal audit strategy, Quest ChangeAuditor for Exchange is the solution that will best meet their needs. Quest ChangeAuditor for Exchange is also the most comprehensive solution for auditing complex messaging environments that are running multiple versions of Exchange Server.

What's New in Exchange 2010 Objects and Security?

Exchange 2010 with Service Pack 1 extends the compliance and discovery theme of Exchange 2007. Exchange 2010 enhances many features introduced in Exchange 2007 and introduces entirely new features in the compliance and security space.

Let's briefly examine the new auditing, security and compliance features in Exchange 2010. A key innovation is its clever use of mailboxes as storage for system information. For example, audited events and discovered messages are stored in a hidden part of a user's mailbox or dedicated discovery mailbox. The reliance on mailbox for storage of sensitive information further accentuates the need to control mailbox access and maintain an audit log of mailbox activity.

Discovery Mailboxes

The discovery mailbox is a new type of mailbox in Exchange 2010. It is created by default when the first Exchange 2010 server is installed. You can create as many discovery mailboxes as you choose, and give access to users that are authorized to perform discovery.

The purpose of a discovery mailbox is to hold data obtained in a discovery search. When a discovery manager performs a discovery search, the messages located by the search can be exported to a discovery mailbox. The messages will be stored there and will be protected against deletion and messaging records management cleanup. Messages stored in the discovery mailbox can be accessed at any time by the discovery manager. Note that the discovery mailbox does not have an e-mail address, and cannot receive e-mail – it is used for discovery activities only.

😹 Exchange Management Console				
File Action View Help				
🔶 🏟 🚺 🖬				
Microsoft Exchange	👫 Mailbox - Entire F	orest		13 obje
Microsoft Exchange On-Premises (n m m Groanization Configuration	Y Create Filter			
Server Configuration	-			
Recipient Configuration	Display Name 🔺	Alias	Organizational Unit	Recipient Type Details
A Mailbox	📑 Adrian Ryan	adrianr	blade.net.nz/Current Users	User Mailbox
💐 Distribution Group	Blade Demo 1	demo	blade.net.nz/Demo Users	User Mailbox
📜 Mail Contact	Bryant Longley	bryantl	blade.net.nz/Current Users	User Mailbox
🛺 Disconnected Mailbox	Charles Watson	charlesw	blade.net.nz/Current Users	User Mailbox
🛃 Move Request	Christine O'Dowd	chrissieo	blade.net.nz/Current Users	User Mailbox
💼 Toolbox	Discovery Search Mailbox	DiscoverySearchMailbox{	blade.net.nz/Users	Discovery Mailbox
Manage Permissi Complet	Manage Full Access ion ion Manage Full Access Use this wizan from a user or and read the of Select the use add Security Prin BLADEN BLADEN Control of the off BLADEN Control of the off BLADEN	Il Access Permission d to grant or remove Full Access group. When you grant the Full contents of the specified mailbox er(s) or group(s) to grant or remove (s) or group(s) to grant or grant or remove (s) or grant or gra	s pemissions for the selected ma Access pemission to a user, the c. ve full access permission:	ailbox to or ey can open

Figure 1 The Default Discovery Search Mailbox and Permissions

You can create a discovery mailbox in the Exchange Management Shell by using the following command.

New-Mailbox DiscoveryMailbox1 -Discovery -UserPrincipalName DiscoveryMailbox1@contoso.com

While you have to use the Exchange Management Shell to create Discovery Mailboxes, you can manage it and remove it just like a standard mailbox using either the Exchange Management Console or the Exchange Management Shell.

Exchange Control Panel

The Exchange Control Panel (ECP) is an extension of Outlook Web Access. The ECP can be accessed by administrators with adequate permissions. These permissions will be discussed in "Exchange 2010 Administrative Model" of this white paper. The following activities can be performed from the ECP:

- Configuring Exchange integration with text messaging and voice messaging providers
- Configuring additional e-mail addresses for mailboxes
- Moderating the membership of a distribution list
- Performing a discovery search across multiple mailboxes

nt - Outlook We	b App - Windows Internet Explorer	
📀 💿 🗢 🖂 https://n	eon. blade.net.nz /ecp/?rfr=owa	🔽 🔒 🐓 🗙 🔀 Google 🖉 🖉
🔶 Favorites 🛛 👍 🏉 Su	iggested Sites 👻 🧶 Web Slice Gallery 💌	
🖂 Account - Outlook Web	Арр	🐴 🔹 🗟 👻 🖃 🖶 🕈 Page 🔹 Safety 🔹 Tools 🔹 🔞
Outlook Web A	pp	Valentine Boiarkine
Select what to manage: M	yself	My Mail 🔞 👻
Account	Account Information - Valentine Boiarkine	Heading out?
Organize E-Mail Groups	General Display name: Valentine Boiarkine E-mail address: valentineb@blade.net.nz	Tell people you're on vacation
Phone	Contact Numbers	Shortcuts to other things you can do
Block or Allow	Work phone: Mobile phone:	Forward your mail using Inbox rules
		Edit Learn how to get Direct Push e-mail on your mobile phone
		Get readable voice mail in your Inbox
		Connect Outlook to this account
		Change your password
		Shortcuts to administrative tools
		Manage your organization
		Learn about Windows PowerShell

Figure 2 Exchange Control Panel (ECP) Accessible in OWA

🖉 Public Groups - Microsoft Ex	change - Windows Intern	et Explorer			
💽 🗢 🖼 https://neon.bla	ade.net.nz/ecp/?rfr=owa		💌 🔒 🐓	🗙 🚼 Google	₽ •
🚖 Favorites 🛛 👍 🏉 Suggeste	ed Sites 👻 🙋 Web Slice Gall	ery 🔻			
🖂 Public Groups - Microsoft Excha	ange	1		🐴 🔹 🗟 🔹 🚍 📥 🔹 Page 🔹	Safety 🕶 Tools 🕶 🔞 🕶
Exchange Serve	r			Val	entine Boiarkine
Select what to manage: My Orga	nization 💌				My Mail 🔞 👻
Users & Groups Reporting	Mailboxes Public Group	s External Contacts			
Provides access to multi- mailbox search and discovery	Public Groups		٩		
	Display Name		E-Mail Address		
	Blade Accounts		Accounts@blade.net.nz		
	Blade Licensing		licensing@blade.net.nz		
	Blade Support		Support@blade.net.nz		
	exchange		exchange@blade.net.nz		
	Fax		Fax@blade.net.nz		
	offer		offer@blade.net.nz		
	Payments		Payments@blade.net.nz		
	Sales		Sales@blade.net.nz		
	unsubscribe		unsubscribe@blade.net.nz		
	upload		upload@blade.net.nz		
	Voicemail		Voicemail@blade.net.nz		•

Figure 3 Exchange Control Panel Features

You must have appropriate role membership in the system before the ECP is displayed in the menu of your Outlook Web Access. These rights are discussed in "Exchange 2010 Administrative Model".

Multi-Mailbox Search

Exchange 2010 allows people who are members of the discovery management role to search the content of all mailboxes held on Exchange 2010 servers. This feature assists with e-mail discovery; discovery is performed using the Exchange Management Shell, or the Exchange Control Panel (ECP) – a new extension to Outlook Web Access introduced in Exchange 2010.

The multi-mailbox search feature relies on the catalogs created by the Exchange Search Service. Mailbox data no longer has to be scanned, significantly improving the performance of the search. These scans are inefficient when applied to mailboxes several gigabytes in size.

🖉 New Mailbox Search - Windows Internet Explorer		- 🗆 ×
https://neon.blade.net.nz/ecp/Reporting/NewMailboxSearc	h.aspx?ReturnObjectType=1	
New Mailbox Search		0
*Required fields		
Keywords	*	
Messages To and From Specific E-Mail Addresses	*	
Date Range	×	
Mailboxes to Search	*	
* Select mailboxes to search:		
Search all mailboxes	\supset	
O Search specific mailboxes or the mailboxes of members of public groups:		
🐣 Add 🛛 💳 Remove		
Search Name and Storage Location	*	
The search name is applied to the folder in the destination mailbox where search results are stored.		
* Search name:		
Contract Details Discovery Search		
* Select a mailbox in which to store the search results:		
Discovery Search Mailbox Browse		-
	Save 🗙 Cance	el
Internet Protected Mode: Off	- 🔍 100%	6 - /

Figure 4 Discovery Search Criteria

🖉 Mailbox Searches - Microso	oft Exchange - Windov	ws Internet Explorer				
🕒 🗢 🖂 https://neon.b	lade.net.nz/ecp/?rfr=ow	a			😽 🗙 🚰 Google	₽ -
🔶 Favorites 🛛 🚖 🏉 Suggest	ed Sites 🔻 💋 Web Slic	e Gallery 🔻				
🏹 Mailbox Searches - Microsoft E	Exchange				🏠 🔹 🔂 👻 🖃 🌧 👻 Page 🔹 Sa	afety • Tools • 🔞 •
Exchange Serve	er				Valent	tine Boiarkine Sign out
Select what to manage: My Orga	anization 💌					My Mail 🔞 🔹
Users & Groups Reporting	Mailbox Searches					
	Multi-Mailbox Sea Create and manage the search list.	arch searches across mailboxes in y	our organization. After you	create a new search,	, or edit and restart an existing one, dick Refres	h below to update
	🔎 New 🔳 С	etails 🗡 🖉 🗙	Ø		A	
	Status In progress	Search Name Contract Details Discovery	Date 27/07/2010 12:07 a.m.	⊽ Size 0B	Contract Details Discovery Search Status: In progress - 86% compl User: Valentine Boiarkine Date: 27/07/2010 12:07 a.m. Size: 9 MB Items: 121 Results: DiscoverySearchMailbox(D91 Errors: none	ete 98A05-46A6-415F-80A

Figure 5 Multi-Mailbox Search - Saved Search

Multi-mailbox search is a powerful feature, allowing users with special rights access to mailbox data. Be sure these activities are audited, as they may cause damage.

The results of the search can be accessed by opening the Discovery Search Mailbox in OWA. In Exchange 2010 Service Pack 1, you can add an annotation to each discovered message, as well as obtain a search preview estimating the count of discovered items before they are copied to the discovery search mailbox. Exchange 2010 Service Pack 1 also adds a data de-duplication feature to remove duplicate items discovered by the multi-mailbox search.

Litigation Hold

You can also place a litigation hold on a mailbox to store it in an unaltered state. During an investigation, the mailbox becomes evidence and must not be touched.

When a mailbox is put on litigation hold, the following occurs:

- All mailbox content that is deleted or changed is preserved in its unaltered state in a special "Recoverable Items" folder. This folder is searchable by the multi-mailbox search.
- All messages deleted or moved using messaging records management (MRM) are preserved in the "Recoverable Items" folder
- An optional retention comment may be displayed to the mailbox owner

In Exchange 2010 RTM, the only way to put a mailbox on retention hold is by using the set-mailbox cmdlet as shown below.

```
Get-Mailbox "Joe Smith" | Set-Mailbox
-LitigationHoldEnabled:$true -RetentionComment:"Litigation in
progress"
```

In Exchange 2010 Service Pack 1 users with the discovery management role can use the Exchange Management Console and the Exchange Control Panel to place mailboxes on litigation hold.

Other Notable Features

Other features to be considered when reviewing your auditing strategy and procedures are:

- Moderated distribution lists. It is possible in Exchange 2010 to assign a user to manage distribution list membership. If changes to distribution lists are not covered by your audit policy, you may wish to add these activities to prevent privilege misuse. Key distribution lists likely to receive sensitive information are primary candidates for auditing.
- New cmdlets for folder-level permissions management. Get-MailboxFolderPermission, Set-MailboxFolderPermission and Remove-MailboxFolderPermission cmdlets allow administrators to manage folder-level permissions in recipient mailboxes. This new management capability requires auditing if you are concerned about administrative privilege misuse.
- Sharing Policies. In Exchange 2010, it is possible to create sharing policies that control sharing of calendars with external users and affiliated organizations. These policies are linked to user mailboxes. Because it is now possible to mass-share calendars using policies, you may wish to audit calendar access for unauthorized attempts.

Administrator Audit Logging

In Exchange 2007, you could audit administrative activities and configuration changes by changing the System Access Control List (SACL) audit entry on the Active Directory object you wish to monitor. Exchange 2010 introduces a new way of auditing administrative changes.

To make a change to Exchange system objects, you must execute Exchange Management Shell cmdlets. Operations performed in the Exchange Management Console and Exchange Control Panel (ECP) also call the cmdlets behind the scenes. Execution of all cmdlets that change the state of the system i.e. New-, Set-, Remove- etc can be logged as part of administrator audit logging.

The logging is performed by a component called Admin Audit Log agent. This component is an addition to the Exchange Management Shell. When a cmdlet is executed in the shell, the Admin Audit Log agent matches the cmdlet to a list of logging activities. If the cmdlet matches the list, the Admin Audit Log agent logs the details of the activity in a hidden arbitration mailbox.

The arbitration mailbox stores audit log entries. In Exchange 2010 SP1 personnel with appropriate role membership can use the ECP, or –AdminAuditLogSearch cmdlets to access and view the audit log entries. In Exchange 2010 RTM, administrators must open the arbitration mailbox directly using OWA or Outlook.

It is important to note that only changes made using Exchange 2010 management tools are logged as part of administrator audit logging. Changes made using Exchange 2007 tools, or by using ADSIEdit, VBScript or other tools are not logged. Therefore, for complex and mixed environments it is recommended that you use a purpose-built auditing solution such as Quest ChangeAuditor for Exchange will audit all administrative changes, regardless of the tool used to make the change.

Configuring Administrator Access Auditing

Administrator access auditing is configured using the Set-AdminAuditLogConfig cmdlet. The cmdlet allows you to configure the following options:

- Admin Audit Log Enabled. This true / false option allows you to control whether or not Administrator Access Auditing is enabled for the organization.
- Admin Audit Log Cmdlets. This allows you to specify the specific cmdlets you are interested in auditing, for example "New-Mailbox" or "Set-ReceiveConnector." You can also use wildcards, for example "*Mailbox*".
- Admin Audit Log Parameters. This allows you to restrict auditing further by specifying only certain
 parameters that are selected for audit. For example, you can audit Set-ReceiveConnector cmdlet
 with –RemotelPRanges parameter only, to ensure you audit unauthorized access to the
 connector.
- Admin Audit Log Age Limit. This parameter specifies how long the audit log entries are stored in the arbitration mailbox. The default is 90 days.

The following example configures administrator access auditing for all mailbox-related activity:

```
Set-AdminAuditLogConfig -AdminAuditLogAgeLimit:"120.00:00:00"
-AdminAuditLogEnabled:$true -AdminAuditLogCmdlets:"*mailbox*"
-AdminAuditLogMailbox:"x-valentineb@blade.net.nz"
```

Note that the mailbox specified by the AdminAuditLog parameter is only configurable in Exchange 2010 RTM. In Exchange 2010 SP1 the dedicated arbitration mailbox is used and cannot be configured.

🖉 x-valentineb - Outlook Web	App - Windows Internet Explorer	
COC V D https://neon.bl	ade.net.nz/owa/?modurl=0	🔄 🔒 😽 🗙 🚰 Google 🖉 🖓 🗸
🔶 Favorites 🛛 🚖 🏀 Suggeste	ed Sites 🔻 😰 Web Slice Gallery 🔫	
0 x-valentineb - Outlook Web Ap	p	🚹 🔹 🔜 👻 🖃 🖶 🔹 Page 🔹 Safety 🔹 Tools 🔹 🔞 🔹
Outlook ⁻ Web App		x-valentineb - Sign out
Mail	Inbox (1Items)	Options 🛄 Find Someone 🔘 🗸
✓ Imperation Favorites Inbox Incead Mail Imperation Sent Items	Image: New v X Move v Filter v View v Image: Search Inbox Search Inbox Image: New v Image: Search Inbox Image: Search Inbox Image: Search Inbox Image: Search Inbox Arrange by: Date v Newest on Top v	Collapse All Newest on Top
 ▲ Second second	BLADE (x-valentineb : New-Mailbox Microsoft Outlook 1:32 AM Name of cmdlet that triggered the audit log entry to be written	Microsoft Outlook Actions • ② To: x-valentineb Cmdlet Name: New-Mailbox Object Modified: blade.net.nz/Users/Test Parameter: FirstName = Test Parameter: LastName = Demo Parameter: UserPrincipalName = test.demo@ Parameter: Name = Test demo Parameter: Password = System.Security.Sec Property Modified: RecipientTypeDetailsVa
		Property Modified: ExchangeSecurityDescri
Calendar Contacts Tasks		Property Modified: RemotePowerShellEnable Property Modified: ExchangeGuid = aca9da4 Property Modified: HomeMTA = Microsoft MT Property Modified: WindowsEmailAddress = Property Modified: RoleAssignmentPolicy =

Figure 6 Audit Entry in Arbitration Mailbox

Information Logged

The following important information is logged as part of the audit entry:

- Cmdlet Name. The cmdlet that triggered the audit entry to be written.
- Object Modified. The Exchange object, such as the mailbox or connector affected by the operation. The object is presented in the format of its Active Directory path e.g. "blade.net.nz/Users/Test Demo"
- Parameters. One line is created per parameter of the cmdlet that triggered the audit entry to be written.
- Properties Modified. Lists the properties of the object that were affected by the cmdlet.
- Caller. The user name of the user who called the cmdlet.
- Succeeded. Displays if the cmdlet executed successfully.
- Error. Any error information output by the cmdlet during execution.
- Run Date. Server date and time when the activity took place.

🖉 BLADE \x-valentineb : Remove-Mailbox - Windows Internet Explorer	
😢 https://neon.blade.net.nz/owa/?ae=Item&a=Open&t=IPM.Note&id=RgAAAABqZLzjy8p7Rr60aDLJOhMBBwD6410uMliwR51UNxo0	GDFX ⁶
😂 Reply 🖓 Reply All 🛛 😂 Forward 🛛 🔻 🗧 🔡 🖓 🏠 🖄 🖄 🔺 🔹	0
BLADE\x-valentineb : Remove-Mailbox	
Microsoft Outlook	
Sent: Tuesday, July 27, 2010 1:44 AM	
To: x-valentineb	
Cmdlet Name: Remove-Mailbox Object Modified: blade.net.nz/Users/Test demo Parameter: Identity = Test Demo Caller: BLADE\x-valentineb Succeeded: True Error: None Run Date: 7/26/2010 1:44:45 PM UTC	

Figure 7 Administrator Access Auditing Entry Message

Mailbox Audit Logging

Mailbox audit logging is a new feature, introduced in Exchange 2010 Service Pack 1. Similar to administrator access audit logging, mailbox audit logging stores the log entries in a mailbox. However, unlike administrator access audit logging, audit entries are stored in the mailbox of the user being audited. The audit entries are stored in a hidden table, inaccessible to end users using Outlook and OWA.

To enable mailbox audit logging for one or more mailboxes, use the Set-Mailbox cmdlet. The following example configures auditing on all mailboxes located on server NEON with owner access and delegated access i.e. someone with permission other than the mailbox owner.

```
Get-Mailbox -Server:"NEON" | Set-Mailbox -AuditEnabled:$true -
AuditOwner: Update, Move, MoveToDeletedItems, SoftDelete -
AuditDelegate: Update, MoveToDeletedItems, SoftDelete,
HardDelete, FolderBind, SendAs, SendOnBehalf
```

Configuring Mailbox Audit Logging

Let's examine the mailbox events, or activities, that can be audited in Exchange 2010 SP1. The following table summarizes the principals that can be audited and the events (mailbox or folder activities) that can be audited for the principal.

Administrator access occurs when a member of one of the Exchange administrator roles exercises their administrative rights and successfully accesses data in the mailbox.

Delegated access occurs when a user with delegated permissions to a mailbox or to a folder within the mailbox, for example, a calendar, successfully accesses the designated mailbox or folder.

	Administrator	Delegate	Owner
Update	X (Default)	X (Default)	Х
Сору	Х	Х	-
Move	X (Default)	Х	Х
MoveToDeletedItems	X (Default)	Х	Х
SoftDelete	X (Default)	X (Default)	Х
HardDelete	X (Default)	X (Default)	Х
FolderBind	X (Default)		-
SendAs	X (Default)	X (Default)	-
SendOnBehalf	X (Default)	Х	-
MessageBind	Х	Х	-

Owner access occurs when a user accesses their own mailbox.

Table 1 Mailbox Audit Logging Principals and Events

Auditing is not enabled by default - you must use the Set-Mailbox cmdlet with an AuditEnabled parameter to enable default logging on a mailbox. Note that owner access is not audited by default.

The AuditLogAgeLimit parameter can be used to control the period of time the audit log entries are retained within the user's mailbox. The default retention period is 90 days.

Microsoft advises that you must seriously consider the implications of turning on mailbox access auditing for one or more mailboxes. Mailbox access auditing is likely to generate thousands of events for each

mailbox. You must have a clear strategy regarding how you will sift through these events to find ones that are relevant. It is not feasible to do a prophylactic review, i.e. acting to defend against these events, due to the sheer volume of information.

Accessing Mailbox Audit Logs

Users with organization management or records management roles can search through events created by mailbox audit logs using the Exchange Management Shell or ECP.

The Search-MailboxAuditLog cmdlet can access a single mailbox for audit entries and output them into the Exchange Management Shell window. The New-MailboxAuditLogSearch cmdlet can perform a search and e-mail the results to a specified e-mail address.

The new auditing tab in ECP can be used to search and export mailbox audit entries, and also provides access to a predefined "Non-owner mailbox access" report.

While Exchange 2010's built-in mailbox audit logging is extremely useful for ad-hoc auditing, enterprises with more complex compliance and auditing requirements should consider an auditing solution such as Quest ChangeAuditor for Exchange. This solution offers easy GUI configuration and consolidated reports, as well as proactive functionality such as alerting.

Exchange 2010 Administrative Model

Exchange 2010 steps away from the access control lists (ACLs) that were used to control permissions and system rights in Exchange 2007. Customer experience has shown that the ACL infrastructure can be complex, confusing and lead to unexpected problems if they are used in a non-standard way. In Exchange 2007, administrative roles of "Organization Administrator", "Server Administrator", "View Only Administrator" and "Recipient Administrator" bridged the gap between ACLs and true role-based security. However, these administrative roles controlled only system rights, i.e. the ability to manage, not use, the messaging system.

Exchange 2010 takes role-based security further, by introducing role based access control (RBAC). RBAC places administrators and users into pre-defined roles with rights to perform administrative or end-user tasks. RBAC is implemented using the following methods:

- Management role. A management role groups together the access rights required to perform a function within the system. A role contains one or more role entries – usually cmdlets required to perform a task. For example, the "Monitoring" management role contains cmdlets like Test-OWAConnectivity and Export-ActiveSyncLog, while the "MyProfileInformation" role allows you to run the Set-User cmdlet with parameters like FirstName, LastName, DisplayName. You can create your own management roles and define which cmdlets and granular parameters are associated with the role.
- Management role group. This object represents a universal security group with users and mailboxes as members. Members of the management role groups can exercise rights associated with all of the roles linked within their groups. Some examples of management role groups are "UM Management", "Organization Management" and "Help Desk".
- 3. *Management role assignment.* This object links the management role group object with the management role object.
- 4. *Management role scope.* The Management role scope specifies which objects or containers are affected by the role. The scope can be restricted to a certain server, an OU, or even a custom recipient filter. For example, the "MyProfileInformation" role is scoped to "Self".

The RBAC User Editor is a tool accessible from the toolbox in the Exchange Management Console. Similar to other ECP tools, this tool is launched in a web browser and can be accessed from anywhere. This tool allows some administration of management roles and association of users with management roles. Further administration can be performed by using Exchange Management Shell cmdlets such as: New-RoleGroup; Add-RoleGroupMember; New-RoleAssignmentPolicy and New-ManagementRole.





Role based security allows organizations to apply fine-grained control to administrators, users and special accounts. It is possible, however, to accidentally add a wrong user to a role, and the possibility for malicious role exploitation still exists. An audit strategy that includes auditing management role changes will assist in mitigating these risks and identifying incidents.

Auditing Exchange 2010 with Quest ChangeAuditor for Exchange

Quest ChangeAuditor v 5.1 allows organizations to audit changes and access to key systems, including Microsoft Exchange 2010.

Administrator access auditing and mailbox audit logging are very powerful features available out-of-thebox; they are well suited to ad-hoc auditing. Some organizations will consider administrator access auditing and mailbox audit logging adequate for their auditing needs. However, if you need a formal audit strategy that includes scheduled audit reviews, as well as storing and viewing consolidated auditing data, you will find the built-in tools inadequate. While most activities of interest are logged by built-in auditing, it is difficult to present and search the information in a consolidated, structured format using built-in tools. It is possible to create custom Exchange Management Shell scripts to export, cleanse and consolidate the raw audit data from mailbox storage, however, reliance on these "home-grown" systems is often more expensive than implementing a purpose-built solution.

Before relying solely on administrator access auditing for auditing system changes, consider the following:

- Mixed topology and toolset. If your topology includes Exchange 2007 as well as Exchange 2010, and your administrators use Exchange 2007 tools and/or ADSIEdit, changes made using these tools will not be audited by administrator access auditing alone.
- Number of log entries. The number of messages written daily to the arbitration mailbox depends on the number of system changes performed. In an enterprise environment, this could be thousands. It may be prohibitively laborious to search for specific activities using the built-in tools alone. Additionally, it will be impossible to perform "routine audit log reviews," since no one is able to read through and analyze several thousand log entries.
- Reporting requirements. If you require special reports or charts, built-in administrator access auditing tools will not be adequate for you.
- Proactive notifications. You may require a proactive notification when a certain event occurs.
- Data storage. Corporate or regulatory policies may require you to store audit logs for far longer than the default 90 days, perhaps as long as seven years. Storing this amount of auditing information for this long is not feasible, as you will probably upgrade your Exchange Server during this time, and the arbitration mailbox will grow to an unmanageable size.

Consider the factors above when choosing to rely solely on administrator access auditing's built-in features. If you have a large number of daily changes and a complex messaging topology, a dedicated solution like Quest ChangeAuditor for Exchange may meet the requirements better than the built-in tools.

🙈 Change Au	ditor - universal.local	- DEFAULT						
<u>File Edit Acti</u>	on <u>Vi</u> ew <u>H</u> elp							
Overvie	w 🗙 😥 Searches	All Exchange	e Events for the last 7 months 🛛 🗙					
Search Pro	operties 🙀 Event D	etails 🛛 🝠 Print 🔻						
Drag a column	header here to group by	that column.			Run on: 8/25/201	10 12:12 PM	Run Time: 00:0 Records:	811 20:03 811
🖆 Severity	Time Detected	▼ Subsystem	User	Event	Server	Action	Domain	Result 🔺
🔀 Click here	to filter data	A	A	A	A	A	A	A
📕 😑 Medium	7/27/2010 5:37 AM	🖃 Exchange	UNIVERSAL\Lisbeth.Salander	Inbox Opened by Non-Owner	PMMAIL	Other	UNIVERS	Success
📕 🦲 Medium	7/27/2010 5:37 AM	🖃 Exchange	UNIVERSAL\Lisbeth.Salander	Message Permanently Deleted by Non-Owner	PMMAIL	Other	UNIVERS	Success
📕 😑 Medium	7/27/2010 5:37 AM	🖃 Exchange	UNIVERSAL\Lisbeth.Salander	Message Read by Non-Owner	PMMAIL	Other	UNIVERS	Success
🔲 😑 Medium	7/27/2010 5:37 AM	🔄 Exchange	UNIVERSAL\Lisbeth.Salander	Inbox Opened by Non-Owner	PMMAIL	Other	UNIVERS	Success
📕 😑 Medium	7/27/2010 5:37 AM	📑 Exchange	UNIVERSAL\Lisbeth.Salander	Message Read by Non-Owner	PMMAIL	Other	UNIVERS	Success
📕 😑 Medium	7/27/2010 5:37 AM	🖃 Exchange	UNIVERSAL\Lisbeth.Salander	Message Read by Non-Owner	PMMAIL	Other	UNIVERS	Success
📕 😑 Medium	7/27/2010 5:37 AM	🖃 Exchange	UNIVERSAL\Lisbeth.Salander	Inbox Opened by Non-Owner	PMMAIL	Other	UNIVERS	Success
📄 🔴 Low	7/23/2010 8:44 AM	🔄 Exchange	UNIVERSAL\tcrane	Mailbox Opened by Owner	PMMAIL	Other	UNIVERS	Success
📕 😑 Medium	7/23/2010 8:44 AM	🖃 Exchange	UNIVERSAL\tcrane	Inbox Opened by Non-Owner	PMMAIL	Other	UNIVERS	Success
🖉 🔵 Low	7/23/2010 8:44 AM	🖃 Exchange	UNIVERSAL\torane	Mailbox Opened by Owner	PMMAIL	Other	UNIVERS	Success
🗌 🔴 Low	7/23/2010 8:44 AM	🖃 Exchange	UNIVERSAL\tcrane	Mailbox Opened by Owner	PMMAIL	Other	UNIVERS	Success
🔚 😑 Medium	7/23/2010 8:43 AM	🖃 Exchange	UNIVERSAL\tcrane	Inbox Opened by Non-Owner	PMMAIL	Other	UNIVERS	Success
🕨 😑 Medium	7/23/2010 8:43 AM	Exchange	UNIVERSAL\torane	Message Read by Non-Owner	PMMAIL	Other	UNIVERS	Success
📕 😑 Medium	7/23/2010 8:43 AM	🖃 Exchange	UNIVERSAL\torane	Inbox Opened by Non-Owner	PMMAIL	Other	UNIVERS	Success
🔤 😑 Low	7/23/2010 8:43 AM	🖃 Exchange	UNIVERSAL\torane	Mailbox Opened by Owner	PMMAIL	Other	UNIVERS	🔵 Success 🔄 🖃
📄 Copy 🖃)Email 🗊 Print 🝷	KnowledgeBase	🎨 Comments					▼ ×
🔴 Mediur	n Severity				(2) When 7/23/20	10 8:43:49 AM		
& Who	UNIVERSAL\torane		🔞 Where F	MMAIL	Strigin PMMEM	1		
🗟 What	A message in folder /Ir	nbox of mailbox Karl A.	Bodin was read by a user other that	in the owner (subject "FW: Quest Knowledge Portal	Compliance Report sul	oscriptions").		
	Exchange		Action: C	Ither	Facility: Exchange I	Mailbox Monitori	ng	
	Class: mailbox		Attribute:					
	Object: universal I	ocal/PB0D/Lisers/Karl	A Bodin					
	oppos. annoodan							
				10	0	0		
🚛 Start 🛛 🌔	🕏 🅪 [🖌 🖌 Char	ngeAuditor - univ			Search Desktop	2] 🥴 📮 😼 🔑	🚜 💒 🔃 12:14 PM

Figure 10 Quest ChangeAuditor Agent Configuration

Quest ChangeAuditor and Regulatory Compliance

Organizations that are required to comply with regulatory standards such as SOX, HIPAA and ISO will find Quest ChangeAuditor of special interest. Quest ChangeAuditor includes out-of-the-box reports that can be used to assess and monitor your compliance.



Figure 11 ChangeAuditor for Exchange Regulatory Compliance Reports

🗄 🌀 SOX 🖻 🏐 Section 404 🖻 🏐 Acquisition and Implementation AI01 - Identify automated solutions AI02 - Acquire and maintain application software AI03 - Acquire and maintain technology infrastructure. -- 🔄 AIO4 - Develop and maintain procedures AI05 - Install and accredit systems 📹 Al06 - Manage changes 🖻 🌀 Delivery and Support ---🔄 DS01 - Define and manage service levels • DS02 - Manage third party services --🔄 DS04 - Ensure continuous service --🔄 DS05 - Ensure systems security --🔄 DS06 - Identify and allocate costs OS09 - Manage the configuration -🔄 DS11 - Manage data - 🔄 DS12 - Manage facilities -🔄 DS13 - Manage operations 🖻 🏐 Monitoring M02 - Assess internal control and adequacy. 🖻 🏐 Planning and Organization 🕤 P007 - Manage human resources PO08 - Ensure compliance with external requirements 📹 PO09 - Assess risks

Figure 12 Quest ChangeAuditor SOX Reports

Conclusion

Exchange 2010 has introduced many new compliance, security and auditing features. A key development is the move towards role-based security with role-based access control (RBAC). RBAC places users into management role groups that are associated with management roles with one or more role entry tasks. Another key development is the introduction of self-service tasks, such as allowing users to manage their own Active Directory attributes. Many administrative tasks can now be performed from the web-based Exchange Control Panel, accessible to authorized users from anywhere connected to the Internet. These features provide new capabilities to your users and administrators, but also expand the need for auditing, accountability and control.

Exchange 2010 has redefined the way activities of interest can be logged. Unlike Exchange 2007, which uses the Windows SACL entries for configuring auditing and the security event log for viewing audit events, Exchange 2010 uses mailboxes to store audit entries.

Administrator access auditing examines cmdlets of interest as they are executed against Exchange 2010, and stores audit entries as messages in a special arbitration mailbox. Administrator access auditing can be configured using Exchange Management Shell cmdlets, and can be accessed using Exchange Management Shell cmdlets.

Mailbox audit logging is a feature introduced in Exchange 2010 SP1. Mailbox audit logging can be configured for individual Exchange 2010 mailboxes using Exchange Management Shell cmdlets. Each audit log entry is stored as an e-mail message in a hidden area of the user's mailbox. It is possible to search through the audit log entries using the Exchange Control Panel or the Exchange Management Shell.

While these auditing improvements are excellent for ad-hoc auditing, larger organizations with more ongoing auditing requirements will find that audit configuration, data consolidation and reporting require custom scripts. The alternative of viewing individual audit log entries may prove unfeasible to organizations with a large amount of audit data collected.

If your organization has a complex messaging environment consisting of more than Exchange 2010, or if your audit strategy calls for ongoing auditing, summary reports and proactive notifications, you should consider a mature auditing solution like Quest ChangeAuditor for Exchange.

WHITE PAPER

About Quest Software, Inc.

Quest simplifies and reduces the cost of managing IT for more than 100,000 customers worldwide. Our innovative solutions make solving the toughest IT management problems easier, enabling customers to save time and money across physical, virtual and cloud environments. For more information about Quest go to **www.quest.com**.

Contacting Quest Software

PHONE 800.306.9329 (United States and Canada) If you are located outside North America, you can find your local office information on our Web site.

E-MAIL sales@quest.com

MAIL Quest Software, Inc. World Headquarters 5 Polaris Way Aliso Viejo, CA 92656 USA

Contacting Quest Support

Quest Support is available to customers who have a trial version of a Quest product or who have purchased a commercial version and have a valid maintenance contract.

Quest Support provides around-the-clock coverage with SupportLink, our Web self-service. Visit SupportLink at **https://support.quest.com**.

SupportLink gives users of Quest Software products the ability to:

- Search Quest's online Knowledgebase
- Download the latest releases, documentation, and patches for Quest products
- Log support cases
- Manage existing support cases

View the Global Support Guide for a detailed explanation of support programs, online services, contact information, and policies and procedures.



5 Polaris Way, Aliso Viejo, CA 92656 | PHONE 800.306.9329 | WEB www.quest.com | E-MAIL sales@quest.com If you are located outside North America, you can find local office information on our Web site.

© 2010 Quest Software, Inc ALL RIGHTS RESERVED.

Quest, Quest Software, the Quest Software logo are registered trademarks of Quest Software, Inc. in the U.S.A. and/or other countries. All other trademarks and registered trademarks are property of their respective owners. WPW-Exchange2010Audit-Boiarkine-US-MJ-20100914